THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Perry H. Gravely, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2019-000009

RECEIVED
AUG 15 2019
SC Court of Appeals

Tyrin S. Young, Sr., Individually,
as PR of the Estates of Tyrin Young, Jr.
and Micah A. Young and as Legal
Guardian of J.Y., a minor under the age of 14. Appellant,

v.

USAA General Indemnity Company Respondent.

APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF

Richard K. Allen, III S.C. Bar No. 74865
Russell F. Guest, S.C. Bar No. 64250
GUEST & BRADY, LLC
1560 Wade Hampton Blvd.
Greenville, SC 29609
Tel: (864) 233-7200; Fax: (864) 242-3667
richardallen@guestbrady.com
russellguest@guestbrady.com

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN FINDING THE CALIFORNIA POLICY SHOULD NOT BE REFORMED UNDER S.C. CODE ANN. § 38-61-10 TO PROVIDE UIM COVERAGE
- II. THE CIRCUIT COURT'S GRANT OF SUMMARY JUDGMENT WAS IN ERROR BECAUSE IT WAS PREMATURE AND BECAUSE THERE WERE GENUINE ISSUES OF MATERIAL FACT IN DISPUTE

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 26, 2017, Plaintiff Tyrin Young filed this declaratory judgment action seeking to reform a USAA automobile policy to conform to the South Carolina Insurance Code pursuant to S.C. Ann. §38-61-10 to provide underinsured motorist coverage in the amount of \$50,000.00¹. (R. pp. 14-18). USAA timely answered and asserted counterclaims against the Plaintiffs, its insureds, and raised numerous defenses based on California law against stacking UIM coverages and other arguments based on California law. (R. pp. 19-55). Plaintiff timely filed its Reply to Answer and Counterclaim of USAA General Company on November 3, 2018. (R. pp. 56-62).

USAA took the depositions Tyrin and his wife Kamika Young on June 29, 2018. (R. p. 241; p. 354). Plaintiff served its Notice of Rule 30(b)(6) Deposition of Defendant USAA General Indemnity Company on July 6, 2018. (R. pp. 193-196). In response, on July 25, 2018, USAA filed a Motion for Summary Judgment and a Motion for a Protective Order seeking to prevent Plaintiff from deposing USAA. (R. pp. 63-65; pp. 180-190). Plaintiff filed a Motion to Compel Attendance at Rule 30(b)(6) Deposition on September 5, 2018. (R. pp. 191-196). All motions were heard on September 24, 2018 by the Honorable Perry H. Gravely.

The Order Granting USAA's Motion for Summary Judgment and Dismissing Cross Motions Related to Discovery Disputes as Being Moot was entered on October 8, 2018 (the "October 8, 2018 Order"). (R. pp. 1-10). On October 17, 2018, Plaintiff timely filed its Motion to Reconsider seeking to alter, amend or reconsider the October 8, 2018 Order. (R. pp. 202-209). On December 6, 2018, the Trial Court issued and entered an Order Denying Plaintiff's Motion to

¹ It is stipulated by the Parties that Plaintiffs' damages resulting from the death of the two children and injuries to the surviving minor child in the accident were sufficient to meet and exceed the available coverage of \$50,000.00 under the California Policy including any applicable setoff.

Reconsider (the “December 6, 2018 Order”). (R. pp 11-13). Plaintiff timely filed and served a Notice of Appeal of both orders on December 31, 2018.

SEPARATE STATEMENT OF FACTS

On August 30, 2015, Kamika Young and her minor children, Tyrin Young, Jr., Micah Young and J.Y. (a minor) were involved in a tragic motor vehicle accident in Greenville, South Carolina (R. p. 15). Two of the children, Tyrin Jr. and Micah, died as a result of the accident and the minor child J.Y. was injured. (R. p. 16). Tyrin Jr. was 4 years old and Micah was 2 year old. (R. p. 132).

The accident was a heartbreaking and devastating event for the Young family. The underlying facts about the wreck are not in dispute. Kamika and the three (3) Young children were driving to church on the morning of the accident. Tyrin Young, Kamika’s husband, was a career serviceman who served his country in the United States Navy and was on temporary duty in Guam at the time of the accident. (R. p. 133).

As Kamika was exiting the parking lot of a gas station attempting to cross over lanes of traffic, she pulled in front of an oncoming vehicle which struck her vehicle. As a result of the collision, she lost control of her vehicle and struck a bank across the street. The Ford Expedition and building caught fire. Kamika and J.Y. were able to exit the vehicle, and they desperately attempted to free Tyrin Jr. and Micah from the burning vehicle and building. They were able to free one of the boys from the vehicle; however, he became disoriented and tragically ran into the burning building where he died. The flames overwhelmed Kamika and J.Y., and they were unable to free the other boy before they were forced to leave him behind where he died in the fire.

The vehicle Kamika was driving, a 2001 Ford Expedition, was insured under a USAA policy at the time of the accident. (R. p. 133). USAA tendered the liability limits of \$50,000.00

and \$50,000.00 UIM limits to settle claims made on behalf of the estates of the deceased children and the minor child under that policy. (R. p. 133). The court order approving the settlement of those claims preserved the right to pursue additional underinsured coverage under a second USAA policy. (R. p. 16).

At the time of the accident, Tyrin had a separate policy with USAA insuring a 2006 KIA Spectra (the “KIA”), which was not involved in the accident. (R. p. 133). The policy covering the KIA was issued in California while Plaintiff was on temporary duty in California under policy number 022260801G71030 (the “California Policy”). (R. p. 133). The California Policy provides multiple types of coverages, including UIM coverage at the time of the accident in the amount \$25,000 each person/\$50,000.00 each accident. (R. p. 133). The California Policy’s listed address of the named insured at the time of the accident was 1409 Roper Mountain Rd. Apt 240, Greenville, SC. 29615. (R. p. 110). The KIA was registered and licensed in South Carolina at the time the policy was issued and at the time of the accident. (R. pp. 133-134; pp. 154-156). For all years of ownership of the KIA, including when the California Policy was issued, property taxes were paid in South Carolina in Greenville County. (R. pp. 133-134; pp. 157-159).

The Young Family has permanent and definitive contacts with the State of South Carolina. Tyrin and Kamika were born in South Carolina and were married in South Carolina. (R. p. 133; p. 251, lines 18-25; p. 361, lines 8-10). Although temporarily deployed at the time of the accident, Tyrin has continuously remained a legal citizen and permanent resident of South Carolina, including at the time the California Policy was issued and at the time of the accident. (R. p. 139; p. 396, lines 3-14; p. 339, line 14 – p. 340, line 20). The Youngs have always maintained South Carolina driver’s licenses. (R. p. 133; pp. 148-150; p. 366, lines 5-10; p. 262, lines 19-21). The

Youngs claimed income in South Carolina and filed their tax returns in South Carolina, including in 2015, the year in which the accident occurred. (R. p. 133, pp. 151-153).

The KIA was registered and tagged in South Carolina at all times relevant to this action, including but not limited to, the date the California Policy was issued, the date of accident and throughout the entire policy period. (R. pp. 133-134). Taxes on the KIA have been paid in South Carolina since the vehicle was purchased new in South Carolina. (R. p. 134).

Kamika Young and the children were living in South Carolina at the time of accident. (R. p. 19; p. 138). The children, who would have also been insured under the California Policy, died in South Carolina and their estates were probated in South Carolina. (R. pp. 177-179). The insured's address listed on the policy at the time of the accident, and the address USAA used to mail policy documents and renewals, was their Greenville, South Carolina address. (R. p. 110; p. 165-176).

Tyrin received orders to ship from California to Guam in 2014 and arranged to have the KIA shipped there in late 2014. (R. pp. 160-164). The Youngs had been living in California for several years prior to that time. After Tyrin received his Guam orders, Kamika and the children moved back to their permanent residence in South Carolina sometime in mid-2014. (R. p. 380, lines 14-18).

At the time of the accident, the KIA and Tyrin were physically located in Guam, a fact that the Youngs had notified USAA of on several occasions prior to the move. (R. p. 308, lines 9-22; p. 344, lines 9-14; p. 382, lines 5-22). Despite USAA's knowledge of the move and the KIA's and Youngs' significant connections with South Carolina, USAA did not change the coverage from California and continued to accept premium payments from the Youngs. (R. p. 134; p.176). The Youngs are not versed in or sophisticated in insurance law and underwriting. They were

simply relying on USAA to write the appropriate coverage based on the information they provided to USAA. (R. p. 134; p. 396, line 15 - p. 397, line 10).

Tyrin asserts that summary judgment should not have been granted because of the significant connections between South Carolina and the property, interests and residents insured under the California Policy. Further, summary judgment was erroneous and premature because genuine issues of fact are in dispute and because Plaintiff had not had the opportunity to depose USAA. Significantly, the Trial Court found significant contacts between South Carolina and the underlying controversy existed, but nevertheless erroneously granted summary judgment without allowing Plaintiff the opportunity to depose USAA. This appeal followed.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Pursuant to Rule 56 (c), SCRCP, the trial court may grant summary judgment only “if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.” “An appellate court reviews a grant of summary judgment under the same standard applied by the trial court pursuant to Rule 56, SCRCP.” *Lanham v. Blue Cross & Blue Shield of S.C., Inc.*, 349 S.C. 356, 361, 563 S.E.2d 331, 333 (2002). An appellate court “undertakes a de novo review of all issues of law, and is free to decide matters of law with no particular deference to the trial court.” *Menezes v. WL Ross & Co., LLC*, 403 S.C. 522, 530, 744 S.E.2d 178, 182 (2013). In reviewing a motion for summary judgment, the facts and circumstances must be viewed in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. *City of Columbia v. Town of Irmo*, 316 S.C. 193, 447 S.E.2d 855 (1994). The non-moving party is only required to submit a mere scintilla of evidence in order to withstand a motion for summary judgment where the standard is a preponderance of the evidence. *Huffman v. Sunshine Recycling*,

LLC, 417 S.C. 514, 523, 790 S.E.2d 401, 406 (Ct. App. 2016), reh'g denied (Sept. 15, 2016), cert. granted (Sept. 29, 2017).

ARGUMENT

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN FINDING THE CALIFORNIA POLICY SHOULD NOT BE REFORMED UNDER S.C. CODE ANN. § 38-61-10 TO PROVIDE UIM COVERAGE

The California Policy does not contain a choice of law provision, which would mandate the application of California law or preclude South Carolina law from being applied. (R. pp. 35-55). “Historically, South Carolina courts have followed the rule of *lex loci contractus* and applied the law of the state where the insurance contract was formed.” *Heslin-Kim v. CIGNA Grp. Ins.*, 377 F. Supp. 2d 527, 530 (D.S.C. 2005). However, the traditional rule of *lex loci contractus* was modified by the enactment of S.C. Code Ann. § 38-61-10. *Id.* “Where this statute applies, it governs as South Carolina's rule of conflicts.” *Sangamo Weston v. Nat'l Surety Corp.*, 307 S.C. 143, 147, 414 S.E.2d 127, 130 (1992). The statute provides:

All contracts of insurance on property, lives, or interests in this State are considered to be made in the State and all contracts of insurance the applications for which are taken within the State are considered to have been made within this State and are subject to the laws of this State. S.C. Code Ann. § 38-61-10.

Pursuant to *Sangamo*, the South Carolina Supreme Court set forth a two-fold analysis to determine the choice of law in the context of an insurance contract. *Heslin-Kim*, 377 F. Supp. 2d at 531. First, the court must determine whether S.C. Code Ann. § 38-61-10 applies. Second, the court must address whether South Carolina has sufficient contacts creating a state interest in the dispute. *Id.* at 531.

- a. The first prong of the *Sangamo* test is satisfied because the California Policy insured property, lives and interests connected to and located in South Carolina.

The physical presence of the insured property in South Carolina is not a part of S.C. Ann. § 38-61-10 and is not required to trigger the broad application of the statute. Here, this is particularly significant considering the substantial contacts with South Carolina, the Youngs and the KIA. When applying the first prong of the *Sangamo* test, “the plain language of § 38–61–10 contemplates a **broad application** of South Carolina law to insurance contracts with any significant connection to South Carolina.” *Heslin-Kim*, 377 F. Supp. 2d at 531 (emphasis added). When interpreting and applying the first prong of the *Sangamo* test, the Court is required to consider the connection between the property, interests or lives with South Carolina – not simply physical presence of any of the insured interests. *See Yeager v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, Civil Action No. 9:09-860-MBS, 2010 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 15843, at 13 (D.S.C. Feb. 22, 2010) (to answer the first question under the *Sangamo* test – whether property lives or interests are located in South Carolina –*Sangamo* and *Heslin-Kim* require that this court interpret § 38-61-10 broadly and determine whether there is a significant connection between the subject of the insurance contract and South Carolina.) Thus, the interpretive case law requires consideration of the connections between South Carolina and the controversy when determining whether Section 38-61-10 applies under the first prong of *Sangamo*.

The statute applies to all “contracts of insurance on property, lives, or interests in this State.” S.C. Ann. § 38-61-10 (emphasis added). *See also Harris v. Anderson County Sheriff's Office*, 381 S.C. 357, 362, 673 S.E.2d 423, 425 (2009) (noting that the use of the word "or" in a statute is a disjunctive particle that marks an alternative). In this case, the inclusion of “or” in the statute is significant because it does not limit the statute's application exclusively to the KIA. Rather, it mandates broad consideration of all property, interests, persons and risks subject to the

California Policy which are located in or share a significant connection to South Carolina. *See Heslin-Kim*, 377 F. Supp. 2d at 531.

South Carolina exercises significant interests in the KIA. It requires registration of the vehicle to, among other important state interests, generate revenue through taxes, track ownership and licensure, and to ensure safety of its citizens on the roadway. (R. pp. 205-206). Kamika purchased the KIA new in South Carolina. (R. pp. 154-156). The KIA was continuously registered and tagged in South Carolina from the time the vehicle was purchased through the date of the accident. (R. pp. 133-134; pp. 154-156). The taxes on the KIA were always paid in South Carolina from the time the vehicle was purchased through the date of the accident. (R. pp. 133-134; pp. 157-159).

The Trial Court notes in the October 8, 2018 Order “that South Carolina’s courts have held numerous times that automobile policies should not be reformed where the policies sole connection to the State of South Carolina is that the insured was injured in an accident while in the State of South Carolina.” (R. p. 6). The Trial Court relies in part on *Bowman v. Cont'l Ins. Co.* No. 99-2540, 2000 U.S. App. LEXIS 20957, at 10 (4th Cir. 2000) (unpublished opinion) to support its finding that S.C. Ann. § 38-61-10 does not apply. (R. p. 6) However, the Trial Court’s application of *Bowman* to the present case is in error.

In *Bowman*, the court declined to reform a Georgia policy related to an accident in South Carolina because the vehicle owners were Georgia citizens and the vehicle was registered, taxed and tagged in Georgia as opposed to South Carolina. *Bowman*, at 10 (4th Cir. 2000). *See also Yeager v. Maryland Casualty*, 868 F. Supp. 141, 144 (D.S.C. 1994) (location of accident and lawsuit alone are insufficient to trigger § 38-61-10 since the accident involved Georgia residents

and a vehicle registered in Georgia.)². The *Bowman* and *Maryland Casualty* cases are clearly distinguishable from this case because they involve only transient connections, whereas the connections in this matter are permanent and definitive. Furthermore, the connections which the court found were lacking in *Bowman* and *Maryland Casualty* – registration of the vehicle in S.C. and ownership by S.C. residents – are satisfied in the present case. Considering the KIA was registered in South Carolina and owned by South Carolina residents, South Carolina has a significant interest in the property, thus triggering the broad application of Section 38-61-10.

In addition to the KIA, the California Policy also provided coverages concerning interests and citizens located in South Carolina and insured individuals (Kamika and Tyrin Young) with South Carolina driver's licenses. (R. pp. 148-150). Prior to the accident on August 30, 2015, Kamika was issued insurance cards for the KIA on January 3, 2015 and June 3, 2015. (R. pp. 165-176). Kamika was specifically named on the declaration page and is listed as an operator and insured on the insurance cards issued and mailed to the family's permanent address in Greenville, South Carolina. (R. pp. 165-176). USAA did so knowing that Kamika and the three (3) children were living in South Carolina at the time. As such, USAA knew that it was insuring persons, interests and risks located in South Carolina under the California Policy, which triggers the broad application of Section 38-61-10 and satisfies the first *Sangamo* prong.

The California Policy also contained bodily injury coverages which covered Kamika and the children located in South Carolina at the time of the accident. (R. pp. 35-55). These coverages included Medical Payments Coverage and UM/UIM coverage. (R. pp. 40-48) The California Policy and the South Carolina Policy generally define "family member" as "a person related to

² Similarly, see *Hartsock v. Am. Auto. Ins. Co.*, 788 F. Supp. 2d 447, 451 (D.S.C. 2011) (the Court applied the *Sangamo* test and reformed a North Carolina automobile insurance policy to South Carolina. Critical to the court's analysis was the fact that Ms. Harstock's vehicle was registered, taxed and tagged in South Carolina.)

you by blood, marriage or adoption who is a resident of your household.” (R. p. 37; p. 86). Relevant to this case, the California Policy generally defines “Covered person” as “you or any family member for the ownership, maintenance, or use of any auto or trailer.” (R. p. 38). USAA considered Tyrin, his wife Kamika Young, and their children as part of the same household as indicated in the policy renewals addressed to their Greenville, South Carolina address on January 3, 2015 and July 3, 2015 (R. pp. 165-176). Tyrin and his family were considered residents of the same household by the IRS and the State of South Carolina as indicated on their South Carolina tax returns and South Carolina drivers’ licenses. (R. pp. 148-153). The United States Military and Federal Government considered the Youngs to be a part of the same household with permanent residence in South Carolina. (R. pp. 151-153).

Turning to the specific coverages, the Medical Payments Coverage applied to “covered persons” defined as “You or your family member occupying while occupying any auto.” (R. p. 40). This particular coverage also provided death benefit coverages to the “beneficiary” of a covered person. (R. p. 42). The term “beneficiary” includes “2. if the deceased is an unmarried minor, either of the surviving parents who had legal custody at the time of the accident;” or “3. the estate of the deceased.” (R. p. 40).

The UM/UIM coverage³ under the California Policy extended to “covered persons” defined as “You or your family member.” (R. p. 44). In this case, Kamika was a legal custodian of the deceased children living in South Carolina at the time of the accident. (R. p. 380, lines 14-18). The

³ Under the California Policy, UIM coverage was in fact included as a part of the UM coverage and the Youngs paid premiums for this coverage. “Underinsured motor vehicle” means a land motor vehicle or trailer of any type to which a liability bond or policy applies at the time of the accident but its limit for bodily injury liability is less than the limit of liability for this coverage. UNINSURED MOTORISTS BODILY INJURY COVERAGE (referred to as UMBI). We will pay compensatory damages which a covered person is legally entitled to recover from the owner or operator of an uninsured motor vehicle or underinsured motor vehicle because of BI sustained by a covered person and caused by an auto accident.

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