THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
COURT OF COMMON PLEAS

PERRY H. GRAVELY, CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE

Case No. 2019-000009

Tyrin S. Young, Sr., Individually,
as PR of the Estates of Tyrin Young, Jr.
and Micah A. Young and as Legal
Guardian of J.Y. minor under the age of 14.Appellant,

v.

USAA General Indemnity CompanyRespondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

AUG 16 2019

SC Court of Appeals

Julie A. Coleman, S.C. Bar No. 102214
Patrick L. "Trey" Still, III Bar No. 74875
1612 Marion Street, Suite 200
Columbia, South Carolina 29201
Phone: (800) 774-8242
Fax: (843) 722-2867
Email: jcoleman@clawsonandstaubes.com
ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

Although South Carolina courts have held that § 38-61-10 contemplates a broad application of South Carolina law to insurance contracts with a significant connection to South Carolina, see Heslin-Kim, 377 F. Supp. 2d at 531, there is no such *significant* connection in this case. The only factor tying the KIA to the state is the fact that it was registered in South Carolina throughout Appellant's military service. This factor alone is not a significant enough connection to deem the KIA as being "located" in South Carolina when it was clearly being garaged, driven, used, and maintained in California and, subsequently, Guam.

Furthermore, the cases which Appellant cites in support of its position find the insurance policies should be reformed only where the vehicle insured under the policy was involved in the accident. See e.g., Leggett v. Smith, 386 S.C. 63, 686 S.E.2d 699 (Ct. App. 2009) (holding a New York policy should be reformed to conform to South Carolina law where the vehicle it insured was involved in a collision in South Carolina, where the driver lived as a college student.); Russell v. McGrath, 135 F. Supp. 3d 427 (D.S.C. 2015) (ultimately denying reformation based on insufficient contacts to South Carolina, but analyzing a policy insuring a vehicle which was involved in the collision at question in South Carolina.). Here, in contrast, the KIA in question was not involved in the accident and was not located in South Carolina at the time of the accident. It was completely unrelated to the accident in question, and its only tie to the facts of this loss is the fact that it was owned by the same owner of the vehicle in the accident.

Sangamo itself allowed reformation of an out-of-state policy because the damage arose out of action which occurred within South Carolina. The court explained, "In this action Sangamo seeks coverage solely for the liability it incurred due to its operations within the State of South Carolina. Therefore, as these policies relate to this action, they insure property and interest in this state." The KIA in question in the current case was not being operated in South Carolina, and the collision which caused the damages in this case did not involve and was completely unrelated to

the KIA. Appellant has already recovered the limits of all applicable policies from the vehicle involved in the accident, and it is now seeking to use South Carolina law to stack additional coverage from an unrelated California vehicle with a non-South Carolina policy that had not been located in the state of South Carolina since 2009. To allow Appellant to do so would not be satisfying the purpose of § 38-61-10.

Accordingly, because the KIA, the insured property, was not located in South Carolina at any time within at least six years of the accident, the first prong of the Sangamo test is not satisfied, and § 38-61-10 does not apply. Therefore, South Carolina law does not apply to this dispute, and California law, which does not allow for the stacking on the uninsured motorist coverage in question, controls.

B. The second prong of the Sangamo test is not satisfied under these circumstances because the vehicle does not have sufficient contacts to South Carolina to create a state interest.

Even if, *arguendo*, the analysis of the first prong of the Sangamo test did show that section 38-61-10 applied, the second prong of the test still would not be satisfied, and South Carolina law would not apply to this dispute. Under the second prong of the Sangamo test, the Court must address whether South Carolina has sufficient contacts creating a state interest in this dispute so that applying South Carolina's substantive law is consistent with the Full Faith and Credit Clause and the Due Process Clause of the United States Constitution. Sangamo, 307 S.C. at 149.

The Full Faith and Credit Clause provides that “Full Faith and Credit shall be given in each State to the public Acts, Records, and judicial Proceedings of every other State.” USCS Const. Art. IV, § 1. This Article implies that public acts of every state shall be given same effect by courts of another state that they have by law and usage at home. Chicago & A. Railroad v Wiggins Ferry Co., 119 US 615 (1887). The Full Faith and Credit Clause is an inexorable command, and “its

applicability does not turn on a balance of convenience as between litigants.” Morris v. Jones, 329 US 545 (1947) (superseded by statute on other grounds).

In the case at hand, the California Insurance Policy covering the KIA was issued as a mutual agreement between both Appellant and USAA under California law, which does not allow the stacking of UIM coverages. Both parties stipulate that neither Appellant nor his wife ever requested that the KIA be insured under a South Carolina policy after it left South Carolina in 2008. USAA insured the vehicle under a clear California insurance policy, and Appellant paid premiums to continue the California insurance policy. California insurance law provides:

Regardless of the number of vehicles involved whether insured or not, persons covered, claims made, premiums paid or the number of premiums shown on the policy, in no event shall the limit of liability for two or more motor vehicles or two or more policies be added together, combined, or stacked to determine the limit of insurance coverage available to injured persons.

Cal. Civ. Code § 11580.2(q). California case law echoes this statute, and their courts repeatedly preclude stacking of UM and UIM benefits. See generally Wagner v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 40 Cal. 3d 460, 466, 220 Cal. Rptr. 659, 662 (1985) (holding that the insured was not entitled to stack two UM policies by the same carrier pursuant to California Insurance Code §115580.2); Calfarm Ins. Co. v. Wolf, 86 Cal. App. 4th 811, 821, 103 Cal. Rptr. 2d 584, 591 (2001) (noting that California law precludes the stacking of UM benefits and instead limits the injured party’s recovery to the high limit of applicable UM coverage).

To reform a California insurance policy, which was written to conform to California law as clearly agreed upon by both parties, would not only strip California of its control over its own inhabitants but would also ignore the intentions of Appellant and USAA at the time they entered into the agreement. Unless this Court can find that the KIA had sufficient contacts to South Carolina to justify a state interest in this dispute which would nullify California law, it must apply the law intended at the creation of the California Policy. Looking to the facts and circumstances

of this case, the KIA's contacts to South Carolina were not sufficient to create a state interest in this dispute.

In its Order granting summary judgment, the lower court held:

In viewing the facts of this case in the light most favorable to the Plaintiff, it is clear that the 2006 KIA has financial ties to the State of South Carolina. However, it is also clear that not only was the KIA not involved in the accident that is the subject of this suit, the vehicle was not in the State of South Carolina within at least 6 years of the accident.

ROA 4. The lower court acknowledged the financial ties between the KIA and the State of South Carolina, which Appellant raises in its brief, but the court also noted that the KIA was not related in any way to the accident in question in this action. The lower court went on to rule that, because the first prong of the Sangamo test was not satisfied, there was no need to address the second prong. The court explained, "Having determined that S.C. Code § 38-61-10 cannot be invoked based upon the location of the insured property, the Court need not address the 'connections' that the Plaintiff, his family, and the car had to the State of South Carolina." ROA 7. The lower court was correct in this ruling, as the second prong of the test need not be analyzed if section 38-61-10 does not apply.

Regardless, the clear and undisputed facts of the case show insufficient contacts between the KIA, which is the subject of the insurance policy in question, and the State of South Carolina. Although Appellant and his wife originally purchased the KIA in South Carolina and continually kept the vehicle registered in South Carolina, the vehicle had been permanently moved outside of South Carolina for at least six years prior to the accident, with no plans to return the vehicle to South Carolina. Although Appellant, who owned the vehicle, had a South Carolina driver's license, he kept and used the vehicle at his home base in California and, when he was deployed to Guam, he took the car with him to Guam. The vehicle was never returned to South Carolina.

Appellant asserts that Mrs. Young and the children, who were involved in the accident, had permanent connections to South Carolina. However, an analysis of their connections to the State is unnecessary and irrelevant to the question at hand, as the KIA was not the vehicle being driven by Mrs. Young during the accident. The dispute in question in this particular case revolves around the property insured by the California Policy—the KIA—and not the vehicle involved in the accident nor the lives of the family members involved in the accident. The KIA, which was located in California/Guam, insured under a California policy, and not related in any way to the accident in question, is the only interest which should be analyzed for sufficient contacts to South Carolina. The simple fact that the KIA was registered in South Carolina does not create a state interest in the vehicle's regulation.

Accordingly, the undisputed facts show insufficient contacts between the KIA and the State of South Carolina to create a state interest in a dispute over an automobile accident which did not even involve the KIA. Therefore, the second prong of the Sangamo test is not satisfied and California law must apply to the policy at issue.

II. The Circuit Court properly granted summary judgment where there is no genuine issue of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.

Appellant argues the Circuit Court erred by granting summary judgment prematurely because there were genuine issues of material fact in dispute. However, the issues Appellant claims are in dispute are not *material facts* relevant to or necessary to determine the sole issue before the Court. The record before this Court clearly shows that all facts necessary to determine whether South Carolina law or California law should apply to this insurance dispute have been agreed upon and stipulated to by the parties. Accordingly, because there is no genuine issue of material fact, this case was ripe for summary judgment, and because the undisputed material facts showed Respondent was entitled to judgment as a matter of law, the lower court's grant of Respondent's summary judgment motion was proper and should be affirmed.

First, to any extent that Appellant is attempting to raise any substantive issue unrelated to whether South Carolina or California law applies to this dispute,² this Court should find that issue unpreserved for appellate review, as the sole issue before the lower court was whether the California Policy should be reformed to allow South Carolina law to control this action given the undisputed facts and stipulations before the court. Turning to the issue at hand, upon a review of the record, the summary judgment standard is clearly met in this case.

“When reviewing the grant of a summary judgment motion, the appellate court applies the same standard which governs the trial court under Rule 56(c): summary judgment is proper when there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.” Henderson v. Allied Signal, Inc., 373 S.C. 179, 183, 644 S.E.2d 724, 726 (2007) (citing Osborne v. Adams, 346 S.C. 4, 550 S.E.2d 319 (2001)). “In determining whether any triable

² The Initial Brief of Appellant appears to present an argument that USAA accepted premiums from Appellant even after the KIA was shipped from California to Guam and therefore USAA waived policy provisions regarding residency and garaging the vehicle. IBOA 21-22.

issue of fact exists, the evidence and all inferences which can reasonably be drawn therefrom must be viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party.” *Id.* (citing Summer v. Carpenter, 328 S.C. 36, 492 S.E.2d 55 (1997)).

Rule 56(b), S.C.R.C.P. provides, “A party against whom a claim, counterclaim, or cross-claim is asserted or a declaratory judgment is sought may, **at any time**, move with or without supporting affidavits for a summary judgment in his favor **as to all or any part thereof**.” (emphasis added). Under the rule, Respondent’s motion was properly made at any time during the pendency of this action. Rule 56(c), S.C.R.C.P. further explains that “[t]he judgment sought shall be rendered forthwith if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.”

Here, the parties to this action agreed upon and stipulated to all necessary facts in this dispute, including Appellant’s citizenship and permanent residency in South Carolina, Appellant’s income taxes being paid in South Carolina, both vehicles in question being registered and taxed in South Carolina, the KIA’s location outside of South Carolina since 2008, and the KIA being insured under a California policy. See ROA 3. Regardless of any alleged “ambiguity” in the California insurance policy in question, these stipulated facts do not change, and they are the only facts material to the ruling in this case.

Appellant argues there is still a dispute over the meaning of the term “garaged” in the California Policy, but this issue is not material to the issue at hand. In its order denying Appellant’s Motion to Reconsider, the Circuit Court correctly addressed this issue, ruling:

The policy in question indicates that the vehicle in question is “principally garaged” in “Santee CA”. Merriam-Webster Dictionary defines garage as “to keep or put in a garage.” The location of the garage, according to the policy, is California, but there is evidence that the location of the vehicle was moved to Guam, which according to Defendant, creates an ambiguity as to where the vehicle is “principally

garaged”. This may be an issue of whether there would be coverage under this policy for the KIA, but this is not relevant to whether South Carolina law would apply since the vehicle was not moved to South Carolina.

ROA 12. Even if Appellant had the opportunity to depose the USAA representatives as it requested and got an answer to the question on “garaging,” there is no way the answer would affect the ruling of this case, as the KIA could not possibly have been garaged in South Carolina. Whether the KIA was garaged in California or in Guam at the time of the accident would not have an effect that would make South Carolina law apply to this dispute. Because of this, the issue is not a material fact in the action. Furthermore, there can be no prejudice from Appellant’s lack of opportunity to depose the USAA representative, as that deposition would not have affected the material facts in question in this action.

Similarly, there is no prejudice from the lower court’s denial of Appellant’s motion to compel the USAA deposition because Appellant was not entitled to conduct this deposition. Appellant attempted to invoke S.C.R.C.P. 30(b)(6) to depose a representative of USAA on issues that are confidential, privileged, or irrelevant to the sole issue at hand. The deposition would have been overly burdensome in that it would require Respondent to identify designees on subjects that are not in dispute in the lawsuit, involved privileges and confidential communications as to USAA’s conversations with its attorneys and issues that are otherwise irrelevant to the claims asserted in Appellant’s Complaint. Even if the denial of Appellant’s motion were an error, it would be a harmless error. Appellant is not entitled to conduct this deposition based on these grounds, so this assertion has no effect on any factual disputes in the action, material or immaterial.

In sum, the issues which Appellant asserts are still in dispute, such as the definition of the term “garaged” and whether USAA accepted premiums knowing that the KIA had been moved to Guam, are not material to the issue at hand because they do not relate to the KIA’s presence in South Carolina or determine whether South Carolina law should apply to this action. Accordingly,